# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/5/2025 2:05 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No.	
-------------------	--

Case #: 1039328

Court of Appeals No. 854747-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### ABOLFAZL HOSSEINZADEH,

Plaintiff-Appellant and Cross-Respondent,

v.

SWEDISH HEALTH SERVICES, a Washington non-profit organization; GURJEET SIDHU AKA GURJEET K SIDHU, AKA GURJEET KAUR SIDHU, AKA GURJEET SIDHU, AKA DR SIDHU, individually; JAKE HARLEY CHOINIERE, AKA JAKE H CHOINIERE, AKA JAKE CHOINIERE, AKA DR JAKE, individually; and UNKNOWN JOHN and JANE DOES,

Defendants-Respondents and Cross-Appellants.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Corey Evan Parker

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Abolfazl Hosseinzadeh was the Plaintiff in the trial court and appellant/cross-Respondent in the Court of Appeals.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals' *Abolfazl Hosseinzadeh v. Swedish Services*, et. al., unpublished opinion on November 25, 2024, and is attached to this petition at *Attachment "A"*. The Motion for Reconsideration was denied on February 4, 2025.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mr. Hosseinzadeh seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decisions pursuant to RAP 13.4 based on the following issues. First, the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicts with the intent and general purpose of this Court's decisions with regard to drawing a distinction between the province of the jury and the trial judge when it found that expert testimonies failed to overcome summary judgment seemingly due to credibility issues. Additionally, The Court of Appeals' Opinion implicates significant questions of public interest when holding

Appellant's claims barred by RCW 7.70. The Court of Appeals Opinion also must be reviewed because of the substantial public interests for protecting the rights of non-lawyer pro se litigants during the discovery and summary judgment phases of litigation. Finally, the Court of Appeals erred by ruling against the purpose, and this Court's own precedent, under the entrepreneurial prong of the Washington Consumer Protection Act.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Abolfazl Hosseinzadeh was the Plaintiff in King County Superior Court Case No. 22-2-11923-3 SEA.

1CP 2 Respondent is the Swedish Health Services, a non-profit corporation that provided healthcare services to Appellant (Respondents Ms. Sidhu and Dr. Choiniere provided healthcare services), were the Defendants. 1CP 2.

In 2019, Appellant was involved in a lawsuit with his Homeowner's Association. 1CP3. During that litigation, he wanted to seek mental healthcare and decided to seek psychiatric care for stress and anxiety resulting from racism

and defamation. Respondent Swedish referred Appellant to seek mental services from a psychologist and scheduled him to see Respondent Gurjeet Sidhu, who was listed as a psychologist on the Swedish Health Service's directory. 1CP 4. Respondent. Sidhu was not a licensed psychologist or psychiatrist and was not authorized to practice as a psychologist or psychiatrist. 1CP 3. Sidhu diagnosed Respondent with anxiety, depression, stress, and, later, a delusional disorder and recommended medications to Appellant. Sidhu was not licensed to diagnose Appellant with mental health disorders nor prescribe medications. 1CP 4. Sidhu diagnosed Appellant differently every time she saw Appellant. Appellant was then referred to Dr. Choiniere, a licensed psychologist, who said Appellant may have bipolar disorder and noted psychotic features (Appellant had no history of mania or mood issues). 1CP4. Dr. Choiniere prescribed Respondent medications; however, he declined to diagnose Appellant with bipolar disorder or a delusional disorder. 1CP 5.

Due to the Appellant's Homeowner's Association lawsuit, Sidhu and Dr. Choiniere were then deposed. 2CP 539-51. Appellant Sidhu testified Respondent had, in the past, been admitted to a mental health facility and taken antipsychotic medications. 1CP 7. Dr. Choiniere recorded no past significant mental health history. 3CP 1101.

Appellant filed this lawsuit against Respondents on July 28, 2022, for medical malpractice, negligence, defamation, and false light against all parties. 1CP 1. The complaint also alleged violations of privacy, deceptive, misleading, and unlicensed practice, fraud, and violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. 1CP 22. During Dr. Choiniere's deposition, Dr. Choiniere stated they met with Respondent only once, for about 50 to 60 minutes, and diagnosed Appellant with unspecified depression and unspecified anxiety. 2CP 951. Dr. Choiniere did not diagnose him with a delusional disorder. 2CP 951 and stated that he did not diagnose Appellant with bipoloar disorder. During Sidhu's deposition, she testified that she met with Appellant,

diagnosed him with a delusional disorder in one session, and failed to correct that diagnosis in follow-up sessions; however, during her deposition she admitted that the delusional diagnosis should be a step-by-step diagnosis and there are many factors considered before making that diagnosis. 3CP 1009-19.

On December 2, 2022, Appellant received notification that Sidhu's counsel had requested his medical records; yet, Respondent (Swedish) had already delivered Appellant's medical records to Sidhu's counsel by then. 1CP 120, 268-70, 296-97. On December 5, 2022, acting in his nonlawyer Pro Se capacity, Appellant objected to the discovery request. 1CP 272-75. Respondent for Swedish and Dr. Choiniere stated that it sent the request for production on November 4, 2022. 1CP 277. Respondents' proof of service stated it was mailed on December 2, 2022. 1CP 268. Respondents Swedish and Dr. Choiniere had not even responded to Appellant's lawsuit. 1CP 80. Appellant filed a Motion for Default with a hearing set for December 28, 2022. 1CP 80. However, the trial court

denied that Motion for Default. 1CP 159, 163.

On February 17, 2023, Appellant – a nonlawyer Pro Se – filed a Motion and Declaration for Issuance of Subpoena Dues Tecum, but the trail court had never ruled on his motion causing the Appellant to fail to obtain evidence from a non-party.

On March 1, 2023, Appellant informed Respondents of his intention to file a Motion for Sanction during a conference meeting with Respondents' attorneys after their failures to correct their wrongdoings. Respondents did not correct their wrongdoings and did not put an end to them, instead on March 8, 2023, the Defendants filed a joint Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "MSJ"). 2CP 534. A hearing was set for April 7, 2023, in which the trial court set a new trial date to November 6, 2023, and a discovery cutoff for September 18, 2023. 2CP 864. In response to the Respondents' MSJ, Appellant argued that discovery was still not closed because discovery was not due to close until September 18, 2023, which was five months after

Respondent's filed their MSJ. 2CP 878-82. Appellant included multiple declarations from expert psychiatrists in his response to Respondent's MSJ. 5CP 2136, 2147. Respondents deposed Appellant on March 15, 2023 (a week after Respondents filed their joint Motion for Summary Judgment), and included a copy of the transcript with their reply. CP3 1392; CP3 1375; CP3 2218. On April 13, 2023, Appellant filed a Motion for Sanction. On April 19, 2023, the trial court granted the Respondents' joint MSJ and dismissed all of Appellant's claims with prejudice. VRP 18. In a handwritten note at the bottom of the order, the trial court said that the two experts (Dr. Pinales and Perez) failed to offer the "required standard of care testimony." 5CP 2291. The trial court stated that it reviewed all thirteen of Appellant's declarations. 5CP 2291. On May 1, 2023, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration requesting reconsideration of the Court's April 19, 2023 "Order Granting Defendants' Joint Motion for Summary Judgment"; however it was denied. On May 18, 2023, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration

requesting reconsideration of the Motion for sanctions; however, that too was denied. CP5 2270, 2278.

Mr. Hosseinzadeh appealed. Op. 1. As to the medical malpractice claim, the Court of Appeals noted that under RCW 7.70.040(1)(a) holds a standard of care. Op.7. The Court of Appeals stated that "despite stating that these are 'their professional opinions,' the doctors' declarations do not identify a specific standard of care." Op. 9. The Court of Appeals added that the Providers' actions or omissions are not explained in the declarations. Op.9. Thus, Dr. Perez failed to identify any "specific act constituting a breach." Op.10. The Court of Appeals likened the affidavits to those in the Guile v. Ballard, 70 Wn.App. 18, 26 (1983), opinion and explained expert testimony that is too broad or uses broad language fails. Op. 11.

As to the fraud claim, the Court of Appeals noted that Swedish said that Epic, its software, populates titles based on education. Op.12-13. The Court of Appeals added the Appellant "does not provide any evidence that he had a right

to rely on the truth of any such representation or that he relied on a false representation to his detriment." Op. 13. The Court of Appeals framed Appellant's facts and arguments presented as "conclusory statements [that] are insufficient to satisfy his burden at summary judgment." Op. 14. As to the Washington Consumer Protection Act (hereinafter "CPA") claim, the Court of Appeals held Sidhu's qualifications were not misrepresented openly to the public. Op. 15; RCW 19.86. On the third element of the CPA claim, the Court of Appeals declined to consider the reply brief's alleged insertion of "new" evidence that Sidhu is "'listed on the HealthPoint website [which lists providers] as being a PsyD" under RAP 9.12 (and under Gartner, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 11 Wn. App. 2d 765, 776-77 (2020)). Op. 15. As to the fourth element of a specific injury: the Court of Appeals stated that while he need not quantify the injury, making only conclusory statements that he suffered general injuries does not suffice. Op. 16. As to unlicensed practice, defamation, false light, and violation of privacy claims, the Court Appeals noted that the arguments were all conclusory. Op. 17.

The Court of Appeals also denied the fees at trial and on appeal; however, they did award Respondents their appellate costs. Op. 17. Here, there were no findings that all actions were frivolous, and, in fact, the trial judge had redacted Respondent's proposed MSJ order text prompt that indicated this was a frivolous action. Op.19; 5CP 2291. Further, Respondents failed to submit any argument or citation that they are entitled to attorney's fees other than "it is equitable." Op. 20. The Respondents, although filed only by Sidhu (without paying the filing fees), also sought appellate costs for all parties under RAP 14.2, and because the parties were the "substantially prevailing parties, [the Court of Appeals] award[ed] **them** appellate costs pursuant to RAP 14.2." Op. 20-21 (emphasis added). The Court Appeals did not review and provide opinion on Appellant's Motion for Sanction despite Appellant's requesting it and paying for its review.

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

A. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Conflicts With The Intent of Decisions Of This Court Regarding The Trial Court's Failing To Consider Expert Witness Qualifications and Excluding that Testimony on Credibility Grounds, Thus Warranting Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This proposition posits a conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion and this Court's precedent; and is, therefore, reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Washington's CR 56(f) provides that: "Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot, for reasons stated, present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just."

"In a summary judgment motion, the moving party bears the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact." *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225 (1989). It is here when "the evidence and all reasonable

inferences therefrom is considered in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, the nonmoving party. An appellate court reviewing a summary judgment places itself in the position of the trial court and considers the facts in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 226.

When weighing if an expert's opinion is admissible, courts look to see if the witness is properly qualified, if that expert relied on generally accepted theories, and if the expert's testimony is helpful to the trier of fact. *State v. Allery*, 101 Wn.2d 591, 596 (1984). Helpfulness to the trier of fact is construed broadly. *Philippides v. Bernard*, 151 Wn.2d 376, 393 (2004) (referencing *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 148 (2001)). In *Folsom v. Burger King*, this Court said that a trial court properly excludes expert testimony when it invades the jury's province or lacks a proper foundation.135 Wash.2d 658, 662-63 (1998).

In general, expert testimony is required to establish both the applicable standard of care and proximate causation. *Grove* v. *PeaceHealth St. Joseph Hosp.*, 182 Wn.2d 136, 143-44

(2014). "Affidavits containing conclusory statements without adequate factual support are insufficient to defeat a MSJ." *Guile v. Ballard Cmty. Hosp.*, 70 Wn.App. 18, 25 (1993). Therefore, a defendant moving for summary judgment can meet its initial burden by showing that the plaintiff lacks competent expert testimony. *Young*, 112 Wash.2d at p. 226-27. However, that is different from the credibility of a witness.

Witness credibility "and the weight to be given to the evidence are matters within the province of the jury and even if convinced that a wrong verdict has been rendered, the reviewing court will not substitute its judgment for that of the jury, so long as there was evidence which, if believed, would support the verdict rendered." *State v. O'Connell et al.*, 83 Wn.2d 797, 834 (1974) (referencing *Burke v. Pepsi-Cola Bottling Co.*, 64 Wash. 2d 244 (1964)).

The Court of Appeals likened Appellant's affidavits to those of *Guile*, in which the plaintiff's experts "merely" provided "summarization of [the plaintiff's] postsurgical complications, coupled with the unsupported conclusion that

the complications were caused by [the defendant physician's] 'faulty technique.'" (Op. 6); *Guile*, 70 Wn. App. at p. 23. In *Vant Leven v. Kretzler*, the trial court properly granted summary judgment when the affidavit stated it was "more probable than not" that the defendant's conduct fell below an applicable standard of care as its analysis—inviting juror speculation. 56 Wash.App. 349, 356 (1989).

Ultimately, admissibility of expert testimony is governed by ER 702. The determination as to whether an expert witness possesses the necessary qualifications to testify is within the reasoned discretion of the trial court. *Rice v. Johnson*, 62 Wn.2d 591 (1963); *Saldivar v. Momah*, 145 Wn.App. 365, 397 (2008) (discretion is to be exercised according to specified criteria). In *Rice v. Johnson*, this Court quoted *Wilson v. Wright* for its underlying precedent that a trial judge "determine[es] whether an expert witness possesses the necessary qualifications to testify on a proper subject is within the sound discretion of the trial court." 52 Wn.2d at p. 812. Yet, even in *Wilson* the trial court did not narrowly construe specialties and

admitted testimony from a metallurgist (having a master's degree in chemical engineering) instead of an "automobile mechanic" as the expert. *Id*. It is whether the testimony is sufficient to determine causation and guidance to the jury.

Such an analysis is followed by this Court in *Volk v*. Demeerleer, 187 Wash.2d 241, 276 (2016), where it rejected a bifurcated analysis by the Court of Appeals: one based on "two levels of speculation." In Volk, this Court stated that an "expert's opinion must be based on fact and cannot be a conclusion or based on an assumption if it is to survive summary judgment." 187 Wash.2d at 277. The worry is not that the expert pled too broadly but that the "trier of fact will be forced to speculate as to causation." Id. In Volk, this Court found the expert testimony permissible because the expert was familiar with the standard of care in Washington "through his consultation with a psychiatric colleague in Washington" and the expert had an "extensive background" in psychiatric and related clinical issues. *Id.* Therefore, he was qualified as an expert under ER 702. Id.

Here, the Court of Appeals stated that Appellant "submitted his own declaration and declarations by friends and family members." (Op.4) As explained above, credibility is the province of the jury. It was improper for the Court of Appeals to affirm this invasion in the province of the jury. In a handwritten note at the bottom of its order, the trial court had stated merely that Dr. Pinales and Dr. Perez failed to offer "the required standards of care testimony which would be applicable to a Washington Hospital; LMFT or Psychiatrist." 5CP 2291. The Court of Appeals noted that the trial court's order did not "specifically address or provide any additional reasoning regarding any other claim" than the expert testimony. Op.4.

The Court of Appeals, however, agreed that "despite stating that these are 'their professional opinions,' the doctors' declarations do not identify a specific standard of care." Op.9.

The Court of Appeals added that the Providers' actions or omissions are not explained in the declarations. Op. 9. Th Court of Appeals likened the affidavits to those in *Guile* and reasoned that where expert testimony fails when it is too broad or uses

broad language. Op. 11.

However, in Dr. Perez's declaration for summary judgment, Dr. Perez addressed both Sidhu and Choiniere, specifically. 3CP 1264-66. Dr. Perez is a medical doctor specializing in psychiatry. 3CP 1264. Dr. Perez has been a board-certified Psychiatrist with the State of Washington since 1995 with more than 35 years of practice. 3CP 1264. Dr. Perez described what a licensed marriage and therapist is permitted to do within their practice—and it was not diagnose Appellant with psychotic disorders—and is "less" than what her credentials permit. 3CP 1267. The declaration indeed laid the foundation for what the standard of care would be for an assessment, Dr. Perez even disclosed her close relationship to Appellant, she also described what should be done in an assessment (over multiple visits), what clinical histories should be searched (i.e. without "performing a comprehensive psychiatric diagnostic evaluation"), and, importantly, she described the ongoing injuries directly related to Respondents' actions: "enter[ing] false clinical and personal information and

false psychiatric diagnosis that have damaged [Appellant] and will continue to harm him in the future." 3CP 1265-66. Personal damage here has injured and will carry into future diagnoses, possible insurance costs, business opportunities, and his medical records must be corrected to avoid further injury. 3CP 1267. Dr. Pinales' declaration likewise included their qualifications and extended the analysis to Dr. Choiniere's inaccuracies for making such a diagnosis on one office visit. 3CP 1270-74. These witnesses qualified under ER 702 and connected the injuries directly to the defendants. Under ER 702, Dr. Perez and Dr. Pinales were qualified as experts. Both the trial Court and the Court of Appeal did not analyze Dr. Acosta's declarations and other declarations in Appellant's support. Respondents did not provide any expert opinions to disapprove expert opinions of Dr. Perez, Dr. Pinales, and Dr. Acosta, and to refute other declarations in Appellant's support. Both the trial Court and the Court of Appeal failed to note the contradictory fact in the case proving that medical malpractice and negligent have accrued at least by one of Respondents

Sidhu or Dr. Choiniere, since Sidhu diagnosed Appellant with delusional disorder while Dr. Choiniere did not. Appellant could not have a disorder and have it, therefore both Sidhu or Dr. Choiniere could not be correct and at least one of them was wrong and committed malpractice by diagnosing or not diagnosing a disorder. Dr. Perez, Dr. Pinales, and Dr. Acosta address this contradictory facts in their declarations.

Credibility of an expert witness, however, is a question for the jury. WPI 2.10 as to Expert Testimony is a jury instruction. It contains:

"A witness who has special training, education, or experience may be allowed to express an opinion in addition to giving testimony as to facts. You are not, however, required to accept his or her opinion. To determine the credibility and weight to be given to this type of evidence, you may consider, among other things, the education, training, experience, knowledge, and ability of the witness. You may also consider the reasons given for the opinion and the sources of his or her information, as well as considering the factors already given to you for evaluating the testimony of any other witness."

The weight given to expert testimony is, ultimately, a jury question. *Gerberg v. Crosby*, 52 Wn.2d 792 (1958); *Kohfeld v.*

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