# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/7/2025 3:54 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1039328 Court of Appeals No. 85474-7-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### ABOLFAZL HOSSEINZADEH,

APPELLANT AND CROSS-RESPONDENT,

v.

SWEDISH HEALTH SERVICES, a Washington non-profit organization; GURJEET SIDHU AKA GURJEET K SIDHU, AKA GURJEET KAUR SIDHU, AKA GURJEET SIDHU, AKA DR SIDHU, individually; JAKE HARLEY CHOINIERE, AKA JAKE H CHOINIERE; AKA JAKE CHOINIERE, AKA DR JAKE, individually; and UNKNOWN JOHN and JANE DOES,

### RESPONDENTS AND CROSS-APPELLANTS

### RESPONDENTS AND CROSS-APPELLANTS' JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

### I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the dismissal of Abolfazl Hosseinzadeh's frivolous and retaliatory lawsuit for multiple baseless claims, against his former healthcare providers. In 2019, Ms. Sidhu and Dr. Choiniere had very limited clinical visits with Mr. Hosseinzadeh. They were then compelled to appear by subpoena—twice each— for depositions in his unrelated and unsuccessful lawsuit against his homeowner's association.

Hosseinzadeh subsequently filed suit against the Respondents and accused them of medical malpractice, violating his privacy, and fraud, among other baseless claims. Respondents moved for summary judgment and the trial court granted the motion. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

In requesting review of the summary judgment dismissal of his claims, Hosseinzadeh confuses issues of law and fact that have been properly addressed by the trial court and subsequently affirmed by the Court of Appeals. None of the grounds raised by

Hosseinzadeh in his Petition for Review meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). The Petition for Review should be denied.

### II. IDENTITY OF THE ANSWERING PARTY

Respondents Swedish Health Services, Gurjeet Sidhu, and Jake Choiniere, M.D., (collectively "Respondents"), by and through their attorneys of record, respectfully ask the Court to deny the Petition for Review.

### III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Abolfazl Hosseinzadeh ("Hosseinzadeh") received care from behavioral health providers associated with Swedish Health Services ("Swedish"). CP 715. He saw Gurjeet Sidhu, LMFT five times and Dr. Jake Choiniere once, over the course of several months in 2019. CP 715, 812-847, 1410-17. Subsequently, defendants in a separate lawsuit filed by Hosseinzadeh subpoenaed Sidhu and Choiniere for depositions to discuss Hosseinzadeh's treatment. CP 568, 715-16. After Hosseinzadeh gave his consent, Sidhu and Choiniere were both deposed. Id.

On July 28, 2022, Hosseinzadeh filed this suit against Respondents asserting claims of medical malpractice, defamation, and false light as well as claims of violation of privacy, unlicensed practice, fraud, and violations of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (CPA), Chapter 19.86 RCW. CP 13-22.

The parties engaged in months of discovery. Ms. Sidhu served initial requests for production on Swedish on November 4, 2022, and due to an apparent post office issue, a mailed copy reached Hosseinzadeh a month later. CP 269-72, 2247-48. Swedish produced Hosseinzadeh's medical records in response to the requests on November 16, 2022; 14 days after the request was mailed to Hosseinzadeh and 93 days after the complaint was filed and physician-patient privilege was waived. CP 2247.

On March 8, 2023, Providers filed a joint motion for summary judgment (MSJ) seeking dismissal of all claims against them. CP 534. In response to this motion, Hosseinzadeh filed 19 declarations including his own and those by friends and family

members, including his wife, Dr. Romelia Perez. CP 1245, 1259-74.

On April 19, 2023, the trial court granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment. CP 2193. Hosseinzadeh filed a motion for reconsideration of the MSJ order on May 1, 2023, which the court denied on May 22, 2023. CP 2251, 2278.

Hosseinzadeh subsequently filed a motion for sanctions against all Respondents and their counsel on April 13, 2023, alleging that they intentionally lied to the court, made false statements of material fact, and violated his rights and court rules. CP 1424. The court denied the motion for sanctions on May 9, 2023. CP 2269. Hosseinzadeh filed a motion to reconsider the sanctions order on May 18, 2023, which the court denied on June 8, 2023. CP 2270, 2279.

On direct appeal, Division I of the Court of Appeals 1) affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Hosseinzadeh's claims; 2) affirmed the trial court's denial of Respondents motion for attorney fees and costs; and 3) denied fees but awarded costs to

Respondents on appeal. The unpublished Court of Appeals decision is attached to Hosseinzadeh's Petition for Review as **Appendix A**.

Following the Court of Appeals decision, Hosseinzadeh filed a Motion for Reconsideration requesting the Court of Appeals reconsider its decision that affirmed the trial court order. The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration. His Petition for Review followed.

### IV. ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the Decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

# A. The Court of Appeals Decision Affirming Summary Dismissal Was Correct and Not in Conflict with Any Decision by This Court or the Court of Appeals.

Hosseinzadeh failed to allege any error in fact or law that would warrant reversal or remand. Pet. For Rev. He continues to confuse issues of law and has failed to identify any issue that would have changed the outcome of the summary judgment decision. Id. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision on summary judgment because she failed to establish materials facts to support his medical negligence and CPA claims.

1. The Court of Appeals did not depart from precedent when it correctly determined that Hosseinzadeh failed to provide sufficient facts to establish his medical malpractice claims.

It is well established that in medical malpractice cases, expert testimony is required to establish a *prima facie* claim for medical negligence because such analysis is beyond the expertise of a layperson. Harris v. Groth, 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983). A health care provider's conduct is to be measured against the standard of care of a reasonably prudent practitioner

possessing the degree of skill, care and learning possessed by other members of the same area of specialty in the State of Washington. <u>Id.</u> at 451.

Hosseinzadeh needed to show that (1) each healthcare provider breached the acceptable standard of care, and (2) this breach was the proximate cause of his injuries. RCW 7.70.040(1). Expert testimony is usually required to establish both the standard of care and causation elements of medical malpractice claims. Harris 99 Wn.2d at 451.

Hosseinzadeh has incorrectly asserted that the Court of Appeals dismissed his medical malpractice claim based on his experts' qualifications under ER 702. Pet. For Rev. at 11-21. However, the question of the experts' qualifications was not reached by the Court of Appeals "[b]ecause we conclude Hosseinzadeh's experts' testimony is deficient on other grounds, we need not address Providers' argument that Dr. Pinales and Dr. Perez are not qualified to establish the relevant standards of care." **Appendix A, p. 8,** footnote 6.

The Court of Appeals carefully analyzed Hosseinzadeh's experts' affidavits and correctly concluded that they are like those in Guile. Appendix A, p. 11; citing Guile v. Ballard Cmty. Hosp., 70 Wn. App. 18, 851 P.2d 689 (1993). The experts' affidavits "lack specificity about the applicable standard of care for an LMFT, psychiatrist, and hospital in Washington. They also fail to connect acts or omissions of the Providers to the applicable standards of care. Consequently, there is no genuine issue of material fact as to Hosseinzadeh's medical malpractice claims." Appendix A, p. 11.

Hosseinzadeh needed a medical expert to establish a *prima* facia claim for medical negligence. He failed to provide the requisite evidence or facts sufficient to establish a legitimate claim that would survive summary judgment. Accordingly, this Court should deny his Petition for Review.

2. The Court of Appeals did not depart from precedent when it affirmed the dismissal of Hosseinzadeh's CPA claim.

It is well established under Washington law, that a party seeking to recover in a private CPA action "must establish five distinct elements: (1) unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or commerce; (3) public interest impact; (4) injury to plaintiff in his or her business or property; [and] (5) causation." Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986); Appendix A, p. 14.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision to dismiss his CPA claim because he failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact as to elements (3) public interest impact or (4) an injury to Hosseinzadeh's business or property. **Appendix A, p.** 16-17.

He cites to <u>Gartner</u>, <u>Inc</u> to argue that the Court of Appeals incorrectly analyzed the public interest element (3) by not considering evidence that was not called to the attention of the trial court on summary judgment because the Court of Appeals must not simply engage in the same analysis as the trial court.

Pet. For Rev., p. 28; citing <u>Gartner, Inc., v. Dep't of Revenue</u>, 11 Wn. App. 2d 765, 776-77, 455 P.3d 1179 (2020).

However, Hosseinzadeh incorrectly states the law. For an appellate court to consider evidence on an appeal from a summary judgment order, the evidence must have been "called to the attention of the trial court." RAP 9.12; **Appendix A**, p. 15. "The purpose of this limitation is to effectuate the rule that the appellate court engages *in the same inquiry* as the trial court." Gartner, Inc., 11 Wn. App.2d at 776-77 (quoting Mithoug v. Apollo Radio of Spokane, 128 Wn.2d 460, 462, 909 P.2d 291 (1996)) (emphasis added).

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that "Hosseinzadeh's citation to a website in his reply brief is insufficient for our consideration under RAP 9.12." *See* Gartner, Inc, 11 Wn. App.2d at 776-77 (striking reference to website in appellate brief where party had not provided documentation of evidence contained on website); **Appendix A,** p. 15.

Further, Hosseinzadeh continues to misunderstand that a plaintiff alleging injury under the CPA must establish all five elements. Hangman Ridge, 105 Wn.2d at 780; Appendix A, p.14 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that "Hosseinzadeh does not identify evidence that establishes that he suffered injury to his business or property." Appendix A, p. 16. Therefore, his CPA claim was properly dismissed for lack of establishing all five required elements. This Court should deny his Petition for Review.

# B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Hosseinzadeh has not raised any issue that implicates an issue of substantial public interest that would warrant review by this Court. Pet. For Rev. He is raising issues that were properly addressed by the trial court and Court of Appeals by vaguely alleging they implicate an issue of substantial public interest fails to articulate facts to justify that contention. <u>Id</u>. The Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed the dismissal of his unlicensed practice of medicine, fraud, and appropriately declined to review

the motion for sanction which was abandoned on appeal. See

Appendix A.

1. The Court of Appeals properly dismissed the unlicensed practice of medicine and fraud claims.

Hosseinzadeh alleges the Court of Appeals dismissal of his unlicensed practice claim involves the public interest because the Court of Appeals improperly relied upon Chapter 7.70 RCW. Pet. For Rev. p 21-24. Hosseinzadeh already unsuccessfully raised the argument that "Respondent Sidhu committed fraud against him by presenting Sidhu as a licensed psychologist despite knowing she did not possess that license" by now calling it an unlicensed practice claim. *see* **Appendix A**, p. 11.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that "[t]he record evidence shows that Sidhu was hired as a psychotherapist and her scope of practice as an LMFT included evaluating patients in the behavioral health clinic and providing diagnoses. There is no evidence that either Swedish or Sidhu falsely represented to Hosseinzadeh that Sidhu was a psychologist." **Appendix A**, p. 13.

Hosseinzadeh is also attempting to reraise his medical negligence claim by calling it an unlicensed practice claim. Pet. For Rev., p. 24. His medical negligence claim was properly dismissed due to his lack of expert testimony, as discussed above.

There is no issue of substantial public interest implicated by the Court of Appeals decision. The Petition for Review should be dismissed.

The Court of Appeals dismissed what Hosseinzadeh called an unlicensed practice claim because the unlicensed practice, defamation, false light, and violation of privacy claims were abandoned on appeal. "Hosseinzadeh assigned error to the trial court's summary judgment dismissal but failed to brief the dismissal of these claims in his opening brief, which focused on the medical malpractice and fraud claims." **Appendix A, p.** 17.

"Points not argued and discussed in the opening brief are deemed abandoned and are not open to consideration on their merits." <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>In re Disciplinary Proceeding of Kennedy</u>, 80 Wn.2d 222, 236, 492 P.2d 1364 (1972)). "Therefore, because

Hosseinzadeh failed to adequately brief these additional tort claims in his opening brief, we do not consider these claims on the merits." **Appendix A,** p. 17. This Court should consider this issue abandoned on appeal and deny his petition for review. Kennedy, supra, at 236.

# 2. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to review Hosseinzadeh's denial of his motion for sanctions.

Hosseinzadeh also attempts to rehash the argument that Respondents committed discovery violations when they provided medical records in response to discovery 93 days after the lawsuit was filed.<sup>1</sup> Pet. For Rev., p. 24-27. The trial court denied Hosseinzadeh's Motion for Sanctions which addressed this same issue. CP 2269. He argues that these decisions implicate a substantial public interest to protect the rights of pro se litigants. Pro se litigants are held to the same standards as attorneys. Winter v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Services, 12 Wn. App.2d 815, 844, 460 P.3d 667 (2020).

<sup>1</sup> Under RCW 5.60.060(4)(6), a plaintiff waives the physician-patient privilege 90 days after filing of a personal injury lawsuit.

On appeal, Hosseinzadeh, who was represented by counsel, failed to attach the relevant order to the notice of appeal and also failed to assign error to the decision or provide argument in his opening brief. **Appendix A,** p.5, footnote 2. "Accordingly, we decline to review the trial court's denial of his motion for sanctions." Id.

These issues should be considered abandoned on appeal and not considered for purposes of the Petition for Review. <u>Blue Spirits distilling LLC v. Washington State Liquor & Cannabis Bd.</u>, 15 Wn. App.2d 779, 794, 478 P.3d 153 (2020) quoting <u>Holder v. City of Vancouver</u>, 136 Wn. App. 104, 107, 147 P.3d 641 (2006).

The Petition for Review should be denied.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision is Not in Conflict with a Published Opinion of the Court of Appeals and Does

Not Implicate Either the U.S. Constitution or the Washington State Constitution.

Hosseinzadeh's Petition only argues that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming appellant's claims are barred by Chapter 7.70 RCW and is therefore reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Pet. For Rev., p. 21. He does not assert or provide any argument the Court of Appeals decision implicates the U.S. Constitution or the Washington State Constitution. Pet. for Rev. These issues should be considered abandoned on appeal and not considered for purposes of the Petition for Review. <u>Blue Spirits</u> distilling LLC, 15 Wn. App.2d at 794.

### V. CONCLUSION

Hosseinzadeh fails to present a sufficient basis under RAP 13.4(b) to justify the acceptance of discretionary review by this Court. Therefore, the Court should deny his Petition for Review.

I certify that this brief produced using word processing software contains 2538 words in compliance with RAP 18.17, exclusive of the title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, this certification of compliance, certificate of service, and signature blocks, as calculated by the word processing software used to prepare this motion.